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    Most of the world since civilisation began has lived under empires.


    Deepak Lal, Indian economist


    The most illuminating history is often written to show how people acted in the expectation of a future that never happened. 


    Roy Foster, Irish historian


    Imperialism was more than a set of economic, political and military phenomena. It was a habit of mind, a dominant idea in the era of European world supremacy which had widespread intellectual, cultural and technical expressions.


    John M MacKenzie, British historian 


    Thousands of people will immediately stream into the Transvaal and the balance of political power which even now is clearly ours in the whole of South Africa under a system of equal rights will turn quickly and decisively against the Boers for all time. 


    Sir Alfred Milner, 1899


    I was born 84 years ago into a world that was a universe away from where we are today … We were passionately committed to the resurrection of the Afrikaner nation. The memories of the Anglo-Boer War were still raw and painful. During that war our people were the victims of a crime against humanity in the course of which we lost almost ten per cent of our population – most of whom were women and children who died in British concentration camps. We remembered with bitterness Lord Milner’s attempts to deprive us of our language and culture.


    FW de Klerk, former State President of South Africa, 2021

  


  
    Preface


    It is hardly possible for any homegrown South African to write a dispassionate account of the life of Alfred, Lord Milner. As the principal instigator of the Anglo-Boer (or South African) War of 1899–1902, Milner provoked a conflict whose consequences are still felt a century and more later. The British journalist Leo Amery, general editor of a seven-volume history of the war for The Times of London, admitted that ‘absolute impartiality’ in dealing with its origins was probably unachievable. His own account, he confessed, had been written ‘frankly from the point of view of one who is convinced that the essential right and justice of the controversy have been with his own country’.1 I admit equally frankly to believing the justice of the argument to lie on the other side, though my aim in this book is neither to vilify nor justify Milner but rather to explain what I believe motivated this enigmatic and driven individual, whose actions have so influenced the lives of every South African.


    As the incomparable historian CW de Kiewiet reminds us, those who write about this seminal time in South Africa’s history often pay insufficient heed to the complexity of events and the motivations of the participants. ‘The picture of the capitalists as men with gold in their hands, brass in their tongues, contempt in their faces, and treachery in their hearts’, he noted, ‘is as untrue as the picture of an Empire robbing a petty state of its independence out of envy for its wealth, or the picture of an ignorant and perverse old man leading his state into destruction rather than yield to a modern age.’2 I have tried to bear this admonition in mind.


    Milner, of course, was not solely responsible for bringing about a conflict that several others helped foment. Britain’s Colonial Secretary, the duplicitous Joseph Chamberlain, ran him a close second, and there were firebrands in Kruger’s ranks as well who were spoiling for a fight. Yet Milner wanted a war more than anyone else, and, as was the case with many men of superior intellect, he acted from what he believed were the highest motives. Like Chamberlain, he convinced himself that it was not only Anglo-Saxons who would profit from the Empire but the backward peoples of the world also – as the beneficiaries of being ruled by the greatest of all the governing races.3 The governed, it should be added, were generally less enthusiastic.


    Like his predecessor, Sir Bartle Frere, almost two decades earlier, Milner knew virtually nothing about South Africa before coming here, soon after the Jameson Raid. Although he learnt the rudiments of the Dutch language, he made no sustained effort to understand the feelings of Boer-Afrikaners, pursued results far too quickly and was prepared to use the necessary force to achieve them.4 As the historian of Empire, Piers Brendon, notes caustically, it was Milner’s learning of Dutch (the written language of the Boers at that time) that enabled him to misunderstand the Afrikaner position so comprehensively.5 Perhaps that was to be expected of a man who confessed, before leaving England, that he was incapable of understanding the arguments of anyone who questioned ‘the desirability or possibility of Imperial unity’.6


    Yet, as one of Britain’s three great proconsuls of the late Victorian era (Cromer in Egypt and Curzon in India being the others), Milner’s reputation cannot be circumscribed by his association with South Africa alone. His other significant achievements during a career at the highest echelons of British society and politics make a full account of his life a worthy subject for any biographer.


    *


    Born with a ‘copper spoon’ in his mouth, the young Alfred Milner was an exceptionally clever, self-made man of modest means and strong moral convictions, who decided early in life on a career in the service of others. By his forties, his administrative abilities and experience were sufficient to have elevated him to the highest ranks of the Colonial Service. In 1897, his deployment to South Africa – the most daunting and challenging appointment in the British Empire – was enthusiastically welcomed by Liberal and Conservative politicians alike. In the age of social Darwinism (often described using the phrase ‘the survival of the fittest’), Milner, a believer in the theory subscribed to by intellectuals across the political spectrum – including such firmly left-wing figures as Beatrice Webb, HG Wells and even Karl Marx7 – thought that mankind was organised hierarchically by race, with the Anglo-Saxons at or near the top of the pile.


    For Milner – who proudly proclaimed himself a British ‘race patriot’ until his dying day – and his fellow imperialists, the English were a chosen people, driven by ‘an insatiable need to exert their colonising genius for the benefit of less fortunate others’.8 Besides promoting the material progress of mankind through free trade, the mission of the Victorian Empire was to spread enlightenment and good governance around the world, and by so doing to uplift people on the lowest rungs of civilisation – described by Kipling, the bard of Empire, as ‘lesser breeds without the law’. The once radical Joseph Chamberlain justified imperial rule by emphasising the happiness, peace and prosperity it would bring to far-off peoples: ‘In carrying out this work of civilisation, we are fulfilling what I believe to be our national mission, and we are finding scope for the exercise of those faculties and qualities which have made of us a great governing race.’9


    What England ‘must either do or perish’, the social thinker and philosopher of British imperialism, John Ruskin, had declared in his celebrated inaugural lecture at Oxford University in 1870, is to ‘found colonies as fast and as far as she is able, formed of her most energetic and worthiest men; seizing every piece of fruitful waste ground she can set her feet on, and there teaching those of her colonists that their chief virtue is to be fidelity to their country, and their first aim is to advance the power of England by land and sea.’10


    Inspired by Ruskin and others, the youthful Milner recognised much earlier than his student contemporaries that if Britain were to maintain her paramount status in the world in the face of emerging powers such as Russia, the United States and Germany, the unification of the Empire was essential. But, unlike Ruskin, he believed that Britain should develop the resources of the vast territories she already possessed rather than expand territorially simply for the sake of it. ‘Our only strength’, he claimed, ‘lies in striving for [the Empire’s] development rather than its extension.’11


    Despite his declared interest in social reform, the dedicated, punctilious and financially astute Milner was never as committed to abstract ideals as he was to systems.12 After a brief excursion into party politics, he soon grew impatient with the inefficiencies and compromises of the British parliamentary system and became a public servant of a special kind. In the words of James Morris, he was ‘a genuine imperial technocrat … from a class of statesmen of which history had time to produce, fortunately for the allure of Empire, only one or two’.13


    His private secretary in South Africa for a time, John Buchan, the future historian, author and Governor General of Canada, observed Milner at close quarters, and 25 years later wrote perceptively of him: ‘All his interests were centred on the service of the state … He had the instincts of a radical reformer joined to a close-textured intellect which reformers rarely possess … So at the outset of his career, he dedicated himself to a cause, putting things like leisure, domestic happiness and money-making behind him … He had a mind remarkable for its scope and its mastery over details – the most powerful administrative intelligence – I think – which Britain had produced in our day.’14


    Yet Buchan also thought that Milner was the last man who should have been chosen for the task in South Africa: ‘He was not very good at envisaging a world wholly different from his own, and his world and [Paul] Kruger’s at no point intersected. There was a gnarled magnificence in the old Transvaal president, but [Milner] only saw a snuffy, mendacious savage.’15 ‘It was a fashion among his critics to believe’, Buchan wrote in his memoirs, ‘that a little geniality on Milner’s part, something of the hail-fellow, masonic-lodge atmosphere, would have brought the Bloemfontein conference [in 1899] to a successful conclusion.


    ‘Such a view seems to me’, continued Buchan, ‘to do justice neither to Kruger, nor to Milner, men deeply in earnest who were striving for things wholly incompatible, an Old Testament patriarchal regime and a modern democracy … [Milner] detested lies, and diplomacy demands something less than the plain truth. He was nothing of the countryman and could not understand the tortuosities of the peasant mind.’16


    To Kruger and the Boers, even more suspicious of British motives after the Jameson Raid, Milner seemed as determined as Cecil Rhodes to secure British dominance throughout southern Africa. In their eyes, a rash adventurer had simply been replaced by a deadly diplomat.17 Rhodes himself, when asked whether he had advised Milner to make war against the Boers, replied that although he sided with Milner’s views, he did not advise him, ‘for the very good reason that Sir Alfred Milner takes only one person’s advice and that is the advice of Sir Alfred Milner’.18


    In the measured judgement of South African-born historian Donald Denoon, Milner was ‘a man of intense political vision, with a talent for analysing affairs in terms of a simple and static set of assumptions … Above all, he was an egotist who not only relished his crucial role in Anglo-Saxon relations, but indeed exaggerated it.’19


    *


    For Milner, the war that devastated South Africa was only a prelude to the real task ahead: reconstructing and uniting the country and eventually bringing it under the British flag. After Vereeniging, the Boers were no longer seen to be an insurmountable obstacle to Britain’s plan for a federation of southern Africa along Canadian lines, and Milner set about rebuilding the two former republics with the zeal of what Smuts described as a ‘socialist autocrat’.20 His ambitious programme, patiently nurtured during the years of a war in which he had to play second fiddle to army generals, envisaged a modern administration for the ‘new colonies’ of the Transvaal and Free State, based on a revitalised economy, land resettlement, an improved education system and a wide-ranging programme of anglicisation of the education system and civil service. Rebuilding the mining industry would not only provide the necessary ‘overspill’ of revenue for these purposes but would also serve as a magnet for skilled immigrants,21 most of whom would speak English. In the fullness of time, these settlers would outnumber Afrikaners and enable South Africa’s four colonies to be joined together under the British Crown.


    *


    Milner’s failure to achieve most of his post-war goals in the short time left to him after the end of the war was not for want of trying. Despite some success in resettling burghers on their farms and giving them a living, introducing modern farming methods, building new schools, improving roads, railways and prisons, and reforming tax collection, he failed dismally in his aim of attracting enough immigrants ‘to turn the balance in favour of the British’.22 Unfortunately for him, he had overestimated the attraction of the land for new immigrants and completely misjudged the depth of Boer resentment and bitterness at the loss of their republics, as well as his anti-Dutch language policy.


    Nonetheless, the so-called Kindergarten of brilliant young would-be colonial administrators he left behind in the Transvaal contributed significantly to the unification of South Africa, a process that moved into a higher gear not long after his departure. To his disgust, the new Union of South Africa was to fall quickly into the lap of the very Boer-Afrikaners he had fought so bitterly to subjugate. In the words of the eminent historian Eric Walker, Milner left for home realising that much of his work was endangered but hoping that at least some of it would stand. ‘In a very real sense’, Walker wrote, ‘the greatest of the High Commissioners can claim to be one of the fathers (or was it stepfathers?) of the Union of South Africa.’23


    *


    As Basil Williams reflects in the British Dictionary of National Biography, Milner did not have the qualities of a great political leader, because he stood aside from party politics and could never have mobilised sufficient popular support to achieve his many ambitious aims. As he was to demonstrate anew upon returning home after eight years in South Africa, the inelasticity of his temperament made it impossible for him to yield a point or give way to what he regarded as an unsatisfactory compromise.
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    Alfred Milner, photographed in 1902. (Wikimedia Commons/Duffus Brothers)


    Yet Milner was undoubtedly one of Britain’s greatest public servants of his time, helping to reconstruct the economy of Egypt (and writing a primer on imperial administration), serving at the right hand of successive Chancellors of the Exchequer, introducing income tax reforms that are still in operation today, and steering the activities of the Rhodes Trust and the Round Table. He played a significant role behind the scenes in the movement for tariff reform and in opposition to Home Rule for Ireland, was an active businessman and social reformer, and returned to public prominence to help bring Lloyd George to power during the First World War, before becoming his most effective cabinet member as War Secretary and Colonial Secretary.24 In the latter role, he was instrumental in drafting the Balfour Declaration, which pledged to create a national homeland for the Jewish people.


    Self-effacing and anti-jingo, Milner wanted no official biography written about him and declined to publish any account of his time in South Africa, which has not deterred several biographers, and a few hagiographers, from doing so. Some of the better assessments of his life have been made by American historians, able to view British imperialism and its excesses in hindsight with bemused detachment. They include AM Gollin and, in particular, J Lee Thompson, whose interest in Milner has resulted in two excellent books, one a full biography and the other a penetrating analysis of his imperial outlook. I am indebted to both these academic historians, and to John Marlowe and Terence O’Brien among other biographers.


    In his posthumously published book Rekonstruksie, the revered Afrikaner historian Karel Schoeman writes that Milner has been so demonised in Afrikaans-language schools and by historiographers for his anglicisation policy that – difficult as it may be to do so – it is high time that his personal qualities and record were reassessed in the light of his adherence to the imperial ideals he believed in.25 That is exactly what prompted me to write a book that anyone with an interest in South African history will agree is long overdue.


    *


    At the age of 67, only four years before he died, Milner married his devoted friend and ally of long standing, Violet (formerly Lady Edward) Cecil, a dyed-in-the-wool imperialist herself and long-standing admirer of his colonial endeavours. As the custodian of her late husband’s voluminous papers, Lady Milner made it her mission to defend his controversial South African record by employing the journalist Cecil Headlam to compile two volumes of his correspondence and diary notes, with an accompanying text.


    Headlam’s obvious partisanship has not diminished the value to historians of his detailed record of Milner’s years in this country. In my account of Milner’s life and times, I devote more attention to his involvement in South African affairs than British and American biographers, while bypassing – in the interests of readability – historiographical arguments between nationalists, liberals, capitalists and Marxists over the causes and effects of the ‘Boer War’ that persist to the present day. Perhaps I should add another word of caution: this book is not aimed at an academic audience and is another of my attempts, as a journalist, to make South Africa’s history accessible to a general readership. The portrait of Milner I seek to present is that of an exceptionally able, ego-driven and single-minded ‘race-patriot’, much liked and admired by the people who knew him well, but intensely disliked by the many who did not, or who failed to share his enthusiasm for British imperialism. He was, in truth, one of a kind – unusually tenacious in his purposes, disdainful of anyone who disagreed with him, and never shrinking from any action he thought necessary to further the causes he so unwaveringly believed in.


    Johannesburg 2022


    Editor’s note: In his diaries and letters, Milner often made use of italics to indicate emphasis or underscore a particular point he wished to make. In the chapters that follow, unless otherwise indicated by the author, the emphasis is that of Milner.

  


  
    Prologue


    On the night of 23 March 1918, Britain’s Secretary of State for War, Alfred Milner, crossed the English Channel to northern France, where the German army was threatening to overrun the vital railway junction at Amiens, the linchpin in the Allied defensive line on the Western Front. In a last despairing thrust, General Erich Ludendorff’s forces had driven a wedge between the British and French armies, taking hundreds of guns and thousands of prisoners. The Germans’ aim was to sever the link between the Allied forces before American troops could be rushed up to bolster the Anglo-French defences. If Amiens were to fall, the British would be driven westwards to the Channel ports and the French southwards in the direction of Paris. There would no longer be direct contact between the Allies’ two biggest armies.


    Milner’s destination was Doullens, a hamlet near the Somme River, in the Picardy region. Here, a crucial meeting took place that settled the outcome of the First World War. A plaque on the iron gates of the town’s mairie, in French and English, commemorates the occasion. The inscription reads: ‘In this Town Hall, on the 26th March 1918, the Allies entrusted General Foch with the Supreme Command on the Western Front. This decision saved France and the liberty of the world.’1


    Dispatched post-haste to the battlefront by Britain’s Prime Minister, David Lloyd George, Milner was to play a crucial role in the decision to combine the British and French high commands under General Ferdinand Foch in a final, do-or-die attempt to keep the German army at bay. His decisiveness at that critical time helped to confirm the post-war verdict in Britain that Secretary Milner, next to Lloyd George himself, had been the most effective member of the War Cabinet.2


    Up to then, Milner’s public reputation had rested – for good or ill – largely upon his controversial role in the Anglo-Boer War (1899–1902) and subsequent reconstruction of South Africa. Such was his disaffection for British party politics after returning home that he had refused to involve himself on either side of the most important issues dividing Britain’s political establishment in the run-up to the Great War, save for two – tariff reform and Home Rule for Ireland. Come the war, his sense of duty and belief that he could contribute positively to Britain’s policymaking made him set aside his reservations and accept a position in Lloyd George’s War Cabinet.


    *


    As Lloyd George recounted later in his self-serving memoirs: ‘I decided that either Milner or myself must go over [to France] at once to see why and where the arrangement for mutual help had failed … and whether things could not be set right before possible disaster supervened … We both felt there was only one effective thing to do … put Foch in charge of both armies.’3 It was agreed that Lloyd George would mind the store in London, but Milner should leave at once for the front, where relations between Philippe Pétain, the French commander-in-chief, and his British counterpart, Douglas Haig, were deteriorating rapidly. As the historian AM Gollin records, ‘The situation at the front seemed desperate. A strong man was needed to restore it.’4


    Milner arrived in France in the early hours of Sunday 25 March, and was immediately summoned to Paris for a tête-à-tête with the French prime minister, Georges Clemenceau. ‘It was necessary at all costs’, the Frenchman declared, ‘to maintain the connection between the French and British armies, and that both Haig and Pétain must at once throw in their reserves to stop the breach.’5 Still lacking, however, was a single directing mind to decide how these reinforcements should be deployed.6


    Later that day, Milner attended a meeting in Pétain’s headquarters at Compiègne, with President Poincaré in the chair, at which Clemenceau, Foch and Pétain were also present. Milner thought that Pétain was far too pessimistic in outlook, but formed a favourable opinion of Foch, who seemed much more alert to the danger posed by the German forces.


    The next day, 26 March, Milner set off for Doullens, 32 km north of Amiens, accompanied by Sir Henry Wilson, about to become Chief of the Imperial General Staff. On their way to a conference attended by Poincaré, Clemenceau, Foch and Pétain on the French side and also by Haig and his three army commanders on the British side, Milner and Wilson agreed that the supreme command of Allied forces should be placed in the hands of Foch. In a detailed memorandum of the meeting, generally accepted as the most accurate account of the proceedings, Milner recorded: ‘I was convinced that whatever might be his other merits or demerits as a soldier, General Foch possessed in a quite exceptional degree the promptitude, energy and resource necessary to get the most done in the time available, the whole question being evidently a race for time.’7


    *


    What happened next has been recounted, with minor variations, by a host of war historians. At the conference, Haig and Foch blamed each other for the shortcomings of their respective armies, and Foch made an attack on Pétain for not fighting with more determination.8 At which point Milner decided to intervene, asking for a one-on-one meeting with Clemenceau, with whom he had always been on good terms:


    I told him quite frankly of [my] conviction … that Foch appeared to me to be the man who had the greatest grasp of the situation and was most likely to deal with it with the intensest energy … Clemenceau, whose own mind, I am sure, had been steadily moving in the same direction … asked for a few minutes to speak to Pétain. While he took Pétain aside, I did the same with Haig … [who] seemed not only quite willing but really pleased. Meanwhile, Clemenceau had spoken to Pétain and immediately wrote and handed me the following form of words [in French] to embody what he and I had just agreed to.9


    The declaration read: ‘General Foch is charged by the British and French Governments to co-ordinate the action of the Allied Armies on the Western Front. He will work to this end with the Generals in Chief, who are asked to furnish him with all the necessary information.’10


    As Milner’s admiring biographer Sir Evelyn Wrench records, ‘At this grave moment, Milner, who had no specific authority entitling him to bind the British government, took responsibility “for a measure which would bring doom or victory to half the world” – and therein lay the greatness of his action. A smaller man would have felt obliged to refer to Whitehall for his instructions.’11


    Another praise-singer, W Basil Worsfold – briefly editor of The Star in Johannesburg after the Anglo-Boer War – wrote of Milner that at Doullens ‘he took upon himself a burden of responsibility than which none heavier was borne by any in the World War’.12 Milner’s biographer, TH O’Brien, concludes that Milner’s decisiveness, initiative and readiness to commit his own government had contributed most to the outcome.13 The historian Walter Reid notes that acknowledgement of Milner’s role is evident from the naming of two streets in Doullens after military men, Foch and Haig, and a third after a civilian – the Boulevard Lord Milner.


    Not wishing to take the credit away from Lloyd George or Haig (who both subsequently claimed a hand in Foch’s appointment), Milner took a typically prosaic view of his role in the proceedings. In a letter to a journalist friend, he played down his own actions, regretting that accounts of the meeting at Doullens had come out in ‘fragmentary revelations. I never said anything about it myself because I hate the scramble for credit which is going on, and in which I must say some of the soldiers are the worst offenders.’ His own detailed memo of the meeting, Milner said, was ‘minutely accurate. I wrote it all down the very next day, when every detail was fresh in my memory, though with no intention of making public use of it.’14


    On arriving back in London on the night of 26 March, Milner immediately went round to 10 Downing Street to see Lloyd George, who approved his decision and promised to have it endorsed by the War Cabinet next morning. Eight days later, at Beauvais town hall in France, representatives of the British, American and French governments met and formally invested General Foch with the supreme command of the Allied armies.


    *


    Within weeks of the Doullens conference, Foch had shifted 45 French infantry and six cavalry divisions into place to counter the Germans, whose numbers had been boosted by reinforcements from the Eastern Front following Russia’s hasty withdrawal from the war. Walter Reid comments that in more than just a physical sense, Britain and France were now closer than they had ever been at any point during the war. ‘[They] shared reserves and co-ordinated their activities properly for the first time. Foch had the power to move armies and tell them where to fight … He had … a concerted strategic vision to which even the Americans submitted.’15 By early November 1918, the Germans had sued for peace and the Great War was over at last.


    In an enthusiastic appraisal of Milner’s career, the English journalist Edward Crankshaw singled out as the most striking example of Milner’s steadfastness and good decision-making his elevation of Foch to the supreme command of the Anglo-French army ‘as it were between lunch and tea’ on that fateful day in Doullens. ‘In the eyewitness accounts of this episode’, wrote Crankshaw, ‘what is chiefly remarkable is the total absence of argumentation, of fuss, of face-saving reservations. Milner knew very well he could carry Lloyd George with him … But in those terrible hours after the collapse of the Fifth Army, alone, a British politician among soldiers, he behaved as few subordinates have ever behaved in matters of great weight, never for one moment raising a doubt in the minds of the soldiers, never hesitating to do the logical thing … and fully prepared to take on himself the responsibility for failure. There was no failure. Had there been, the responsibility would have been his and his alone. But the credit for success could not be his.’16


    Instead, the acclaim went to Lloyd George, Britain’s Prime Minister.

  


  
    CHAPTER 1


    Youth


    1854–1879


    Mary Milner tried as hard as she could to ensure that her German-born son, Alfred, grew up to be an Englishman. The young widow of an Anglo-Irish army officer shot dead by republican rebels, Mary had moved to Germany in an attempt to educate her two young sons on a tiny income – to the little university town of Giessen, 48 km north of Frankfurt, in today’s federal state of Hesse. There, she engaged the services of an attractive young medical student, Charles Milner, to tutor her boys. Mary and Charles fell in love, and in due course were married at the British consulate in Bonn. She was 41 and he only 22 years old.


    Charles was the son of a wine merchant, James Richardson Milner, sent from England in 1805 to open a branch of the family business in the Rhineland. His mother was Sophia von Rappard, daughter of a German civil servant and his part-Dutch wife, who bore her husband six children. Except for the eldest, Charles, all the Milner siblings and their offspring were German subjects.


    On 23 March 1854, Mary and Charles’s son, Alfred, was born at Giessen. He was to be their only child. As was customary then, his parents affirmed their newborn son’s nationality by having him baptised by the British chaplain in Bonn. When Alfred was one and a half, the family moved to Tübingen, a university town in Württemberg, where Charles qualified as a doctor in 1856.


    Besides being a cheaper town to live in, Tübingen offered Charles plenty of the riding, hunting and other outdoor activities he found much more enjoyable than working. Lively and well read, he was variously described as ‘straightforward, jolly, and sensible’ by one friend1 and by another as ‘an impossible man, gifted, wayward, and incapable of looking after anyone’.2 Basil Williams, a journalist with The Times of London, called Dr Milner ‘a man of brilliant parts, but with interests too varied to make him a success in his chosen profession’.3


    Early schooling


    It fell to the reserved and deeply devout Mary, an Englishwoman of sweet disposition, to hold the family together and oversee little Alfred’s upbringing.4 When Charles was unable to find employment in Tübingen, at her insistence the family moved to London, to be closer to her relatives and benefit from their financial assistance. Always short of money, the Milners had to take modest lodgings in the Old Kent Road in southeast London, before moving into the home of Mary’s cousin, John Malcolm, in more upmarket Pimlico.


    Although never in the best of health, Charles Milner MD opened a practice in Chelsea in 1861, and for the next six years he and Mary settled into their new milieu as a middle-class Victorian couple.5 The comfort of his family’s new circumstances made a lasting impression on young Alfred, whose father was always more interested in shooting and walking with family and friends, choosing ‘rabbits and pheasants over patients and fees’.6 As his practice foundered, Dr Milner had to fall back on his skills as a tutor to make ends meet. He began teaching Latin at home to his son, who was already displaying a keen interest in natural history.


    Alfred’s early formal education began as a day scholar at St Peter’s Church School in Eaton Square, Belgravia, where he soon showed exceptional promise. Despite being something of a ‘loner’, by the age of 12 he was popular enough to be chosen as head boy. Sadly for him, though, his parents decided it was time to move back to Germany, where the ever-restless Charles had secured a readership in English literature at Tübingen University.


    At Tübingen, the Milners had to share their family home with a succession of English schoolboys sent over to Germany to be tutored by Dr Milner, who needed their fees to supplement his meagre academic salary. Still in his formative years, Alfred intensely disliked the strict discipline of his new Gymnasium, but after three years of ‘frightful sweat’ he remastered the German language and came top of his class.7 In later life, this German upbringing during his most formative years was held against him by chauvinistic English critics, who claimed he was a foreigner and therefore not really to be trusted. (Though Milner eventually lost his German accent, he was never able to pronounce ‘th’ in English properly.)


    In 1869, when only 15, Alfred’s life changed radically, and for the worse, when his beloved mother died after a protracted battle with cancer. Mary’s death at the age of 58 brought about the break-up of the Milner family. Her teenage son was inconsolable: his mother was not only his ideal woman but represented his whole world.8 As Headlam records, Mary’s influence was to remain with her son always: ‘So great was the impression she made upon him that he may be said to have lived all his life by the light of the torch she lit.’9 HWJ Picard observes that when Milner’s mother died, something broke within him that was never altogether mended.10 From then on, he grew up with little experience of close human warmth or family support.11


    King’s College


    Mary Milner had been determined that Alfred should be brought up ‘English’, and before she died she made arrangements with her brother, Colonel Charles Ready, that her youngest son would be taken under his wing. Her two elder sons, now grown up, were away in India and China, respectively. Colonel Ready immediately brought Alfred back to London and arranged for his accommodation with John Malcolm, a barrister and widower with a 26-year-old daughter, Marianne.


    Alfred was enrolled as a dayboy at King’s College, London, housed in the basement of Somerset House, in the Strand. Mary had been able to leave a small legacy for her son, which was entrusted to Malcolm, who managed to lose most of it by the time of his own death a year later. Marianne Malcolm, 11 years older than Alfred, became his surrogate sister and for the next few years his closest companion.


    Given their severely limited means, Marianne’s and Alfred’s lives in London were far from easy. A classmate of his at King’s remembers Alfred as a ‘grave, serious and thoughtful boy’, top of the class in classics, French and German, who always carried off all the prizes;12 another described him as ‘tall, dignified, aloof and old beyond his years’.13 But he also had a less serious, more boyish side, attractive enough to gain him several close friendships that would endure into old age.


    After two and a half years, Alfred left King’s with many academic honours but very little money. Taking the advice of his respected classics teacher, he applied for a scholarship to Balliol College at Oxford, under the renowned mastership of Benjamin Jowett. Dr Charles Milner, still teaching in Germany, advised his son to apply for admission to the Indian Civil Service, but after much argument reluctantly pledged £50 towards Alfred’s education at Oxford, provided he did not have to fund any future shortfall in fees.


    The long summer holidays gave Alfred a welcome opportunity to leave Marianne in London and spend time in the German outdoors with his father. On one memorable visit, in 1870, he arrived in Tübingen to find the country up in arms as a result of France’s reckless declaration of war on the German confederation, led by Prussia. Walking through the Black Forest together, Charles and Alfred watched the bombardment of Strasbourg from afar and were struck by the military efficiency of the Prussian army. According to Headlam, the experience made a profound impression on the young man, who never forgot the impact of warfare on a people under duress. He saw at first-hand how a highly organised and conscripted German army turned the tables upon a French nation ill-prepared for war, and drew from it the lifelong lesson that it was ‘madness’ for any rich and peacefully minded nation to be unable to defend itself properly.14


    Balliol


    Alfred had no relatives or friends of influence and financial means who could be called upon to ease his way into Oxford, so he spent the summer holidays of 1872 being coached to write the five-day open scholarship examination for Balliol. The college was then at the height of its fame, renowned for being the pre-eminent centre in Britain for the training of future public servants for duty at home and abroad. Its fabled Master, Jowett, asserted that success in life should depend on merit and hard work, not aristocratic connections and wealth: the role that men should play in the world was to give disinterested service to the welfare of their fellow human beings. Jowett was a close friend of and mentor to Florence Nightingale, once writing to her to say that he ‘should like to govern the world through [his] pupils’.15 Among his students would be a future British prime minister, Herbert Henry (HH) Asquith, and three successive viceroys of India, Lords Lansdowne, Elgin and Curzon, all of them devoted alumni of Jowett’s Balliol.


    Throughout his student career, Milner suffered from a fear that he had performed badly in every scholarship exam he wrote. For the ‘Balliol’, he thought he had done well in the first three papers but ‘gone to the dogs’ in the last two. Yet the excellence of his essay on the Franco-Prussian War had put him far ahead of his fellows, and he duly pipped a dismayed set of ‘Varsity men’ from other colleges and other public schoolboys to the main scholarship prize. As Headlam recounts, when the winner was announced to the expectant candidates thronging Balliol Hall as ‘Mr Milner, King’s College’, ‘there was dead silence. No one had ever heard of him.’16


    A stipend of £80 from Balliol helped to ease Alfred’s financial circumstances, though Marianne’s father’s mismanagement of their finances and her frequently poor health meant they both had to budget carefully, with Alfred obliged to regard his own income and Marianne’s as one.17 Out of necessity, he formed a lifelong habit of keeping a careful account of his expenditure. Knowing of Milner’s financial circumstances, Jowett, who had taken an immediate liking to his brilliant new acquisition, found him pupils to tutor in order to supplement his income.18


    Three aspects of Milner’s character set him apart from the other 180 Balliol undergraduates: his part-schooling in Germany, which made him fluent in a foreign language, his intellectual ability and unusually thoughtful demeanour, and his meagre income. He had continually to seek other scholarships to keep himself at Balliol, and became a self-described ‘scholarship-hunter’.19 While at Oxford, he won no fewer than four significant scholarships, failing only to win the most coveted of all, the ‘Ireland’, because he tore up his final paper (on Greek verse) and walked out of the exam in frustration. Jowett told him afterwards that if he had not done that, he was so far ahead of the other candidates he would have walked away with the prize.


    Milner found life at Oxford exhilarating. Besides working harder than anyone, he threw himself into campus activities and took regular exercise on the River Isis, once rowing 60 km to Reading in the company of friends. He also helped to found the Balliol Shakespeare Club and joined the Oxford Union, the famous nursery for future politicians of which he became treasurer and president. As is usual in student bodies, Balliol consisted of a number of cliques – intellectual and athletic – but Milner took great care not to identify too closely with any one of them. His modest and unaffected disposition won him many friends, who respected his intellect as well as his strength of character.


    Like many of his Balliol contemporaries, Milner was deeply influenced by the Master’s views on politics, religion and the merits of public service. Jowett was a theologian and distinguished classicist, whose religious views were anathema to the ruling Anglican establishment at Oxford as they progressed from orthodox to radical to heretical. Though he had to preach in public, Jowett privately became more and more critical of his pious academic colleagues – and of narrow-minded, party-bound politicians. An ambitious man, he would say, ‘though always willing to act with a party’, should ‘keep his mind above party feelings and motives’.20 His beliefs struck a chord with Milner, who became a lifelong disciple.


    There were other influences on the minds of Balliol’s young idealists. Four years before Milner’s arrival, a prominent Liberal MP, Charles Dilke, had written an influential book, Greater Britain, which predicted that the Anglo-Saxon race was destined to rule the world by its unique ability to govern through a constitutional system that combined ‘liberty, justice and efficiency’.21 This, Dilke suggested, was no accident but in furtherance of a Higher Purpose – the progress towards freedom for all mankind.22


    A decade later, a Cambridge don, JR Seeley, published a runaway bestseller, The Expansion of England, in which he predicted that within half a century the United States and Russia would dwarf European countries such as France and Germany. And Britain would go the same way, Seeley warned, unless it abandoned its absent-minded and haphazard approach to imperialism and failed to take advantage of two significant developments: more Englishmen and -women were now living in the colonies than at home, and the new technologies of the telegraph and steamship were making it possible to unite the scattered Empire as never before. Only by putting together a ‘Greater Britain’ could such a relatively small country hope to remain among the superpowers of the future.23 It was a message that mainstream British politicians began to take seriously.


    Seeley’s exhortation was also grist to the mill of a new generation of imperialists, eager to substitute single-mindedness for absent-mindedness and to take advantage of the ‘Scramble for Africa’ that took place after the Berlin Conference of 1884–1885, when Britain, France, Germany and other colonial powers began to compete seriously with one another for territorial acquisitions across Africa. Among this new generation was a fellow undergraduate at Oriel College at Oxford, one Cecil John Rhodes, only nine months older than Milner. Both young men thrilled to the prospect of emulating imperial Rome and establishing new, well-run and prosperous colonies under the British flag.


    In Milner’s view, however, public life meant public service, and any expansion of the Empire abroad had to be accompanied by social reforms at home, in order to undo some of the damage caused by uncontrolled industrialisation in England. He described himself in those days as being ‘from head to foot one glowing mass of conviction’,24 whose role in life and new secular religion would be to promote Britain’s imperial destiny in the role of ‘civilian soldier of the Empire’.25


    Among Milner’s new friends at Balliol was Herbert Asquith, a future Liberal prime minister of Britain. The pair formed a close bond during their three years together as students, and their friendship continued when both took up legal careers after graduating. Another close friend was a much older postgraduate student, George Parkin, a fervent advocate of an imperial federation between Britain and his native Canada. However, the person who most inspired the young idealists in Milner’s circle was Arnold Toynbee (uncle of the famous historian Arnold J Toynbee), a remarkable young tutor and social reformer, only 18 months older than Milner, who helped prepare Balliol undergraduates for careers in the civil service.


    Physically striking, eloquent in conversation and an inspiring thinker, Toynbee’, with his progressive views on social service to the weak in society, became, in J Lee Thompson’s words, the ‘centre, the idol, the model’ of Milner’s world at Oxford.26 As a tutor in political economy, Toynbee pricked the social conscience of his students, underlining their duty, as members of the elite, towards the lower classes. Away from the lecture hall, Toynbee could be found in the midst of every student campaign to improve the lot of people in slums, their lives blighted by the Industrial Revolution. Of all his Balliol friends, Milner was to say that Toynbee, at the age of 30, had exercised the most decisive influence upon him, not merely because of his intellectual gifts but for ‘the nature of the man – his truthfulness, his unrivalled loftiness of soul’.27


    Conflicting beliefs


    Milner’s four years at Oxford endowed him with an unusual political philosophy that combined two seemingly conflicting ideals: imperial advancement abroad coupled with social reform at home. Although his party-political inclinations were Liberal, he was actually closer to Benjamin Disraeli’s brand of Conservatism, with its enthusiasm for Empire, extension of the franchise to the masses and concern for social upliftment. His coterie of friends were ‘earnest, socially conscious, dutiful and exceedingly clever, and … lastingly influenced his view of public life and private duty’.28 As Milner’s biographer John Marlowe records, he had a kind of ‘genius for friendship’, even though ‘deficient in bonhomie towards casual acquaintances’ and lacking ‘the common touch’.29 Keith Breckenridge observes that Milner was ‘a generous listener and a charming conversationalist’, and that throughout his life, ‘he collected powerful personal friends like precious works of art, and they became his most effective political agents’.30


    Shortly before leaving Balliol, Milner underwent one more five-day scholarship examination – for a postgraduate fellowship at New College, which offered an annual stipend as well as board and lodging for as long as the recipient remained unmarried. Once again, Milner walked away with the scholarship, which provided him with the domestic and financial security he had never known before. His new fellowship gave him more time to ruminate about politics and society and give thought to the contribution he might make himself to the fortunes of his country31 – and in time to the wider Empire.

  


  
    CHAPTER 2


    Early Career


    1881–1889


    For a young man such as Milner, with a first-class academic record and political ambitions, reading for the Bar was the most obvious career path. Although tempted by the offer of a tutorship at New College, he had decided – thanks to Jowett – that his future lay eventually in public service and he began ‘eating dinners’ at London’s Inner Temple. Two years later, in 1881, he was called to the Midland Circuit of the Bar, but his practice failed to take off and at the age of 28 he gave up the law and sought more satisfying work elsewhere. Confiding to his diary, Milner wrote: ‘Resolution fixed. Bar thrown overboard. Off I go upon the wide ocean … as long as I keep my health … I have nothing to fear in a life, the first condition of which is celibacy. One cannot have everything. I am a poor man and must choose between public usefulness and private happiness. I choose the former, or rather I choose to strive for it.’1


    While at the Bar, Milner had suffered a bout of deep depression. He had moved back into lodgings with Marianne, who, at the age of nearly 40 – unmarried and lonely – had turned to the bottle and become mentally unstable. It was only his sense of obligation to the Malcolm family that persuaded him to stay on with her, but her frequent illnesses and mood swings made their life together anything but pleasant.


    As a diversion from the law’s drudgery, Milner had taken to writing regular articles for the Pall Mall Gazette, a journal of influence in political circles. In 1883, its respected editor, John Morley, a future Liberal statesman (and opponent of imperialism and the first Anglo-Boer War) retired, to be succeeded by William T Stead, a social reformer, ardent imperialist and pioneer of a new brand of populist journalism.


    Milner accepted an invitation to become Stead’s assistant editor, viewing the post as a form of apprenticeship for politics.2 Despite having similar ideals, he and Stead could hardly have been more different in temperament – the editor impassioned and mercurial, his deputy requiring ‘a great deal to arouse him’.3 Milner described Stead as a cross between PT Barnum (the circus impresario) and Don Quixote,4 and wrote approvingly that ‘he loved to develop his ideas dialectically, in discussion with someone personally congenial to him, but whose habit of mind was as dissimilar as possible to his own’.5


    Stead observed that his assistant felt the strain of his work and was easily exhausted: ‘His physical energy was deficient. He often suffered from sleeplessness, and he needed to take care of himself.’6 John Buchan also observed of Milner that ‘early in life he became aware that he had a limited stock of vitality, bodily and mental’.7 Throughout his career, overwork would give rise to health problems.


    In 1882, Milner received news of his ailing father’s death in Tübingen, at the age of only 52. He rushed to Germany just in time for the funeral and was touched by the number of university officers and townsfolk present at the graveside. Dr Charles was buried alongside Mary. After visiting his relatives, sunk in gloom and not wishing to return to the turmoil of life in London, Milner spent several weeks with friends in Normandy, where congenial company, plenty of swimming and his first experience of life in a carefree peasant community – in whose dances he joined on Sunday evenings – restored his flagging spirits. He remained despondent about his work and prospects, however, noting in his diary that ‘my life is passing and I have done no work of value’.8


    Returning to London, he decided it was time to make a break from Marianne after 14 years together. (She was by now an alcoholic and fated to die less than two years later.) Moving into rooms within five minutes’ walk of the offices of the Gazette, he often found himself in the editor’s chair during Stead’s frequent absence on some or other crusade. On matters imperial, the Gazette had been critical of Prime Minister William Ewart Gladstone’s ‘capitulation’ to the Boers of the Transvaal after the Battle of Majuba Hill in February 1881, opting for peace and granting recognition to Paul Kruger’s South African Republic (SAR), also known as the Transvaal. Stead was paying close attention to the negotiations in progress in London between Lord Derby, the Colonial Secretary, and Kruger, ranting in the Gazette that the burghers of the SAR should ‘shoot them down if necessary’ to end their defiance of the British.9


    A devastating blow for Milner in early 1883 was the death of his mentor, Arnold Toynbee, who had been in ill health for some time. Stead recalled years later that during his years at the Pall Mall Gazette, Milner was exceptionally kind to everyone, ‘but he loved Arnold Toynbee in a way in which I have never known him care for mortal man’.10 As a tribute to Toynbee, Milner and his friends founded a charitable organisation in his name to alleviate poverty in the East End of London. Toynbee Hall survives to this day, and Milner became an active supporter for the rest of his life, serving for many years as chairman of its council.11


    Goschen


    Milner’s interest in politics and social activism brought him to the attention of George J Goschen, a prominent Liberal politician who had declined to continue serving in Gladstone’s cabinet because of the latter’s lukewarm enthusiasm for imperialism, and insistence on further extending the electoral franchise. The 52-year-old ex-minister and the much younger Milner had much in common: German connections (Goschen’s family had emigrated to Britain from Leipzig), a passion for social reform and a determination – rare in politics – to put principle above party attachment.12 While at the Gazette, Milner began to ‘devil’ in his spare hours for Goschen and in 1884 became his part-time private secretary, besides fulfilling his editorial duties. The close relationship – professional and private – that grew up between the two men was instrumental in developing Milner’s political thinking, and in shaping his career path.13 Goschen had a particular interest in Egypt, where he had negotiated on behalf of British bondholders invested in the Suez Canal project, and was critical of Gladstone’s apparent intention to withdraw from the Middle East.


    Milner’s dual responsibility to his two masters, Stead and Goschen, worked well for a time, until he began eventually to tire of the Gazette’s crusading zeal and was embarrassed by some of Stead’s sensationalist campaigns.14 By the end of his first year with Goschen, Milner had become more of a colleague and adviser rather than secretary to the older man, writing two notable speeches for him that won Goschen a seat in Edinburgh, as ‘a detached moderate’,15 in the 1885 general election. In the meantime, Milner’s journalistic career and job as Goschen’s secretary came to an abrupt end when he was persuaded to stand himself as the Liberal candidate for Harrow in the closely fought national poll, which resulted almost in a dead heat between the two main parties – and a hung Parliament.


    During his campaign, the youthful Milner made more than 90 speeches, in one of which he touched on relations with the Transvaal in the 1880s. ‘It was proved’, he asserted, ‘that the Boers never desired to come under our government, and we had done an act of injustice in forcing that government upon them.’ Acknowledging that ‘the weaker enemy had proved himself to be in the right’, he endorsed Gladstone’s decision not to escalate the conflict, declaring ‘on that view of British honour I take my stand’.16 How different would be his attitude during his meeting with Paul Kruger in Bloemfontein some 20 years later.17


    According to Marlowe, as a campaigner Milner had none of that ‘extrovert boisterousness’ so useful to the successful democratic politician.18 Despite his firm beliefs, he was not a staunch party man and seemed to be deficient in political passion. Much better at arguing on paper than from a public platform, Milner, with his ‘squeaky’ voice, could seldom arouse an audience. Critics said of him that ‘he could not speak with real effect until he was hit in the eye’.19 Although he put up a brave fight in Harrow, he lost the contest to a Conservative candidate by a thousand votes. It was his first and last attempt to enter the House of Commons and convinced him to forego a career in politics. ‘I am afraid I should never make a good party man, but I hope to make a fairly decent Englishman,’20 he wrote afterwards.


    In one noteworthy campaign speech on ‘Liberalism and Foreign Policy’, Milner gave a foretaste of the issues he would pursue with enthusiasm over the next few decades – enlightened patriotism, imperial unity, compulsory military training and preparedness for war. To these ends, he asserted, Britain needed a dominant Royal Navy, one that would carry on ruling the waves – in cooperation with her far-flung colonies – and produce ‘a common nationality between Englishmen at home and Englishmen beyond the sea’.21


    The Liberal Unionists


    Gladstone’s resignation in 1885 over a budget issue precipitated another indecisive election that brought Lord Salisbury’s Conservatives temporarily into office for a few months before the veteran Liberal leader, supported this time by Irish nationalist MPs, went to the country again in early 1886 with a proposal to grant Home Rule to the troublesome Irish. In response, 93 Liberal MPs, led by the former Radical, Joseph Chamberlain, who were strongly in favour of retaining British rule over Ireland, walked out on Gladstone and formed the Liberal-Unionist Association. Prominent among them was Goschen, supported by Milner, whose own reasons for leaving the Liberal Party for the Unionists were tactical (and pro-imperialist) rather than born of true conviction.


    Working once again for Goschen, Milner threw himself ‘heart and soul’22 into running the Liberal-Unionist Association’s anti-Home Rule campaign, making many speeches on the new group’s behalf. His efforts during the election campaign, in which Gladstone’s Home Rule Bill was defeated by only 30 votes, were described by the association’s head committee as ‘impossible to overestimate’.23 The election, which cost Goschen his Edinburgh seat, put Lord Salisbury’s Conservatives into power for the next six years in an unofficial alliance with the Liberal-Unionists, who declined to enter into a formal coalition with the Tories for fear of being absorbed by their larger partner.


    Milner celebrated the Unionists’ electoral success by taking off on a six-week tour of Ireland. He wrote to Goschen afterwards to express thanks for having been influenced by him against Gladstone on the ‘Irish question’ – the new dividing line in British politics. ‘All my natural leanings were to Home Rule’, Milner wrote, ‘and in the far future, I still think it may be the best, or the only constitution for Ireland, but, under present circumstances, I am sure it would have meant a most fearful disaster [for the Empire] … I have no hesitation in saying that I am, for all practical purposes, a Tory. I don’t mean however to question for a moment, the wisdom, nay the absolute necessity, of keeping up the Liberal-Unionist Party, for the time being at least, as a separate organization.’24


    The Treasury 


    Not long after Milner’s return from Ireland, the Salisbury administration was confronted by an internal upheaval that threatened its survival in government. In a fit of pique, the mercurial Lord Randolph Churchill, the Chancellor of the Exchequer (and father of Winston), had tendered his resignation after his proposed budget cuts in military expenditure were rejected by his colleagues. Assuming he was irreplaceable, Churchill was surprised – and dismayed – when his offer of resignation was accepted. Needing to keep leading Liberal-Unionists on his side, Salisbury quickly offered the chancellorship to the sure-footed and financially experienced George Goschen.


    Though initially hesitant to serve in a Conservative-led government, Goschen was persuaded by Milner, among others, that he should put country before party and accept appointment. As Chancellor, one of his first acts was to make Milner his principal private secretary – and right-hand man at the Treasury. It proved an inspired choice, for in his secretary Goschen had found someone with a hitherto unrevealed aptitude for figures. As Milner was to say of himself, ‘when I have once read a balance sheet or a budget, the figures seem to be written on the wall in front of my eyes’.25 Years later, his wife would say of him, ‘he could not forget figures – once seen’.26 Milner’s wide grasp of financial issues helped Goschen to reduce Britain’s national debt in a ground-breaking budget in 1888.


    Milner served Goschen at the Treasury for the next three years, his work at the heart of government in complete contrast to his time spent working for Stead or behind a desk in the Liberal-Unionists’ cramped headquarters. At the age of 33, a comfortable bachelor with rooms in St James’s and Oxford, as well as membership of several London clubs, Milner was utterly absorbed by a job that he found both worthwhile and challenging. In his leisure hours, he enjoyed an active social life, with a circle of friends drawn by his exceptional intellect as well as a genuine interest in what others were doing or saying, which made him attractive to younger people – and especially small children.27


    He also seems to have had premonitions about his future career direction. Since his Oxford days, he had been especially interested in two countries with a substantial English-speaking presence – Egypt and South Africa – whose internal dynamics posed a threat to the unity of the British Empire. In Goschen, he had found a like-minded imperialist whose experience of Egypt as a banker had whetted Milner’s interest in the Middle East, and who had become perturbed by Gladstone’s hands-off approach to the two strategically important territories at opposite ends of the African continent. Milner’s interest in South Africa had been further kindled by an ardent Liberal-Unionist friend and colleague, AL Bruce, married to the daughter of David Livingstone and chairman of the African Lakes Company, who had extensive experience of sub-Saharan Africa and wished to put an end to the slave trade in Central Africa and promote ‘Christianity and civilisation’ in the South.28


    A sign of Milner’s growing reputation at the Treasury was an invitation from the new Viceroy-designate of India, Lord Lansdowne, a fellow Balliol man and Liberal Unionist, to accompany him to Delhi as his private secretary. Rather surprisingly, Milner turned down this plum position – which carried considerable status and a high salary – because he feared he was not physically strong enough for the rigours of what was bound to be an exhausting assignment.


    Milner proposed, instead, to undertake a tour of southern Africa in the second half of 1889, but called it off when he learnt, probably via Goschen, that the post of director general of accounts in the Egyptian government might become vacant. In due course, an offer arrived from Sir Evelyn Baring, the British Agent and Consul General in Cairo. Milner took his time before replying and consulted Goschen, who thought his aide would like Cairo because he had ‘a touch of the adventurous’ and would enjoy the ‘independence and individuality of a foreign position’.29


    Fed up with the intrigues of the constant party politicking that were making even his successful tenure at the Treasury uncertain, Milner decided to chance his luck in Egypt in the hope that it might open a door for him in the imperial civil service. The post on offer would provide him with an excellent opportunity to exercise his humanitarian skills while furthering the cause of Empire.30 As he explained to Goschen, ‘Egypt is an important place, and it is important, from the Imperial point of view, that Englishmen holding any sort of responsible position there should be English-minded. And I think I may say I am that.’31


    As for the future, ‘between the service of England abroad … and civil service at home, there is a great deal to be said for the former. The individual counts for more. It is more exciting. You have a larger scope. Of course, it is not so safe or comfortable, but then I am a single man, with innumerable ties of affection certainly, but nothing of duty, to England.’32


    Since Napoleon’s invasion of Egypt in 1798, France had been a major investor in Egypt, whose foreign business was usually conducted in French. In typically thorough fashion, Milner immediately took himself off to Normandy to sharpen up his skills in the language. Though wishing his assistant well, Goschen lamented his loss to the Treasury, saying it was as though he ‘had lost his right hand’.33 Milner recorded his gratitude to Goschen for having been a great chief, ‘who was at the same time an excellent friend’.34

  


  
    CHAPTER 3


    Egypt


    1889–1892


    Milner took up his appointment as Director General of Accounts in the Egyptian finance ministry at a timely moment in Anglo-Egyptian relations. Though still part of the Ottoman Empire, the nominally independent Egypt was run as a private fiefdom by successive Khedives, who had vastly overspent on infrastructural development and were no longer able to repay the interest on their foreign loans. For most of the 1800s, French rather than British investors had taken the lead in developing the economies of Asia Minor and Egypt, and especially in financing the Suez Canal, the strategically important waterway to the Far East that opened to shipping in 1869. The Suez Canal had reduced the voyage to and from India, Britain’s most precious colonial possession, by several weeks and many thousands of sea miles.


    Always hovering on the brink of insolvency (and civil implosion), Egypt had been forced to allow the two foreign governments to whom it was most indebted – Britain and France – to take over the running of its treasury in return for Egypt’s relinquishing control over the Suez Canal. By the 1880s, Suez had become a vital conduit for British trade: 21 per cent of Britain’s exports and 16 per cent of its imports went through the Canal1 and four out of five steamships passing through it were British.2


    Successive British governments under Gladstone and Disraeli, both of whom had privately bought shares in the company operating the Canal, had taken unilateral action to ensure that British interests in Egypt were protected. In 1882, they upstaged the French by sending troops to put down an anti-European uprising in Alexandria – by then there were some 37 000 Europeans resident in Egypt – and leaving the army behind, ‘temporarily’, to safeguard the lifeline to India. Every year for the next 40, Britain vowed to leave her ‘veiled protectorate’ once a stable, solvent and properly run government had been established there, but never actually did so.3


    With two-fifths of cultivated land along the Nile under cotton, most of it exported to Britain, Rudyard Kipling memorably described Egypt as ‘not a country, but a longish strip of market-garden, nominally in the charge of a government which is not a government but the disconnected satrapy of a half-dead empire, controlled Pecksniffingly by a Power which is not a Power but an Agency’.4 But what made this ‘market-garden’ of such strategic significance to European powers was, of course, the Canal, the conduit to Asia. The protectorate was also the northern gateway to the territories along the White Nile down to its source near the equator. For some obscure reason, the Foreign Office was of the view that control of the headwaters of the Nile was essential for the prosperity of Egypt and the region.5


    By the time of Milner’s arrival in Cairo in November 1889, Britain had become the predominant influence in Egypt, having established a protectorate run from London without ever formally colonising the country. Its de facto ruler was Britain’s Agent and Consul General, Sir Evelyn Baring, known by his detractors as ‘Sir Over-Baring’, and as ‘El Lord’ by the awed Egyptians. In J Lee Thompson’s vivid description, the imperious Baring – about to become Lord Cromer – was ‘physically imposing, supremely self-confident, cold, reserved, well-read, a good diplomat and extremely well-organised – a perfect imperial administrator’.6 Over the years, he had put in place a system in which the Khedive remained the nominal ruler, but behind him was a network of British advisers and officials who ran the government, the economy, the police and the army.7 For more menial services to the fellahin (peasantry), Baring employed a coterie of local administrators and tax collectors, whom he regarded with barely concealed contempt.


    The Sudan


    As British Agent, Baring was also the effective ruler of the neighbouring Sudan, a long-standing Egyptian dependency. When El Lord took up his post in Cairo in 1883, a religious revival was under way in the Sudan, inspired by Ahmed Mohammed, a former Egyptian slave trader, now a charismatic Muslim preacher known as the ‘Mahdi’ (one who offers divine guidance in the right way).8 Sweeping across the Sudan, the Mahdi’s ‘Dervishes’ crushed a 10 000-strong, well-armed Egyptian force led by a British officer, Colonel William Hicks, in November 1883 and laid siege to the capital, Khartoum. With the disastrous Indian Mutiny of 1857–1859 in mind – when nationalists had forged an alliance with militant Islam – a fearful British government decided to abandon the Sudan altogether and rather take measures to prevent Mahdism from spreading into Egypt or across the Red Sea.


    In early 1884, fearing losses that might threaten Britain’s hold on Egypt and egged on by a press campaign led by an indignant WT Stead, a reluctant Gladstone sent the devout and ‘slightly mad’ General Charles Gordon, a decorated Crimean War veteran, to the Sudan with orders to relieve British garrisons and then let go of the territory. Gordon set out for Khartoum and on reaching the military base outside the city decided to ignore his instructions. Believing he had a prior duty to God, he decided to stay put in the hope of arousing a public outcry at home that would force the government to reverse its policy and agree ‘in the name of civilisation’ not to withdraw from the Sudan but to free the territory from the evils of the Mahdi.


    His unorthodox tactics worked: Gladstone reluctantly agreed to send a relief force up the Nile, and in January 1885 Khartoum was liberated after three days of fierce fighting in which Gordon himself died bravely. Gladstone was held to be publicly responsible for the death of a heroic Christian bravely upholding his faith in the face of barbarism, and Baring was blamed too, even though he had opposed the mission to free Khartoum from the outset. It was to take 13 years before Gordon’s death would be avenged by General Kitchener’s invading Anglo-Egyptian army.9


    Reconstruction in Egypt


    Within a few years of arriving in Egypt in 1883, Baring and his financial guru, Sir Edgar Vincent, had managed to accomplish the seemingly impossible task of putting the protectorate’s finances in reasonable order.10 Under their stewardship, Egypt emerged from bankruptcy and even produced a budget surplus. In addition, irrigation projects were launched, the judicial system overhauled, forced labour abolished, the railways rebuilt and discipline instilled in the army.11 Yet, it was the fellahin rather than the British taxpayer who bore most of the cost of Baring’s endeavours.


    Despite the material improvements that British officialdom had wrought, like colonialists everywhere they were not popular among the people they ruled. To Baring’s admirers at home, he was a brilliant administrator who had saved Egypt from financial ruin and rescued the fellahin from the worst aspects of colonialist exploitation. Yet in the eyes of Egyptians – and Liberal anti-imperialists in Britain – the Agent and Consul General epitomised ‘the worst aspects of colonial domination and condescension … and instituted a form of one-man rule with distinct shades of megalomania’. On his daily travels through Cairo, Baring is said to have ordered a servant to run ahead of his carriage, shouting out his name and telling people to get out of its way.12


    It did not take Milner long to master the intricacies of Egypt’s finances and demonstrate his talents as an administrator.13 Settling into a furnished apartment in Cairo, along with an Arab manservant, he began immediately to acquaint himself with the country’s politics and learn Arabic, which he came to regard as ‘an appalling language’14 and was never able to master. He found the Egyptian capital ‘unbelievably unsanitary in all its arrangements’, and among its curses, the ‘fleas, flies, mesquitoes [sic] and dust’.15 Yet these inconveniences were not sufficient to deter ‘half the civilized world’ from invading Cairo for the fashionable winter social season.16 Following the example of Baring, who not only regarded Egyptians as beneath him but also kept away from the Turkish ruling classes and visiting Europeans, Milner avoided the frivolities of the season ‘as much as politeness allowed’.17 ‘With foreigners’, he admitted, ‘one practically does not mix.’18


    Egypt’s financial problems were exceedingly complex, and Milner revelled in dealing with the finances of a country in which ‘the connection of economics with politics and morality’ was so apparent.19 He developed a high regard for Baring, whose ‘unostentatious supremacy’ he described as ‘a masterpiece of political management’.20 Baring was equally impressed with Milner, regarding him as ‘one of the most able Englishmen who have served the Egyptian government’, and as one of three men in the Empire capable of being his successor.21


    Milner’s administrative experiences in Egypt served to confirm his belief in the racial superiority of Englishmen, and to strengthen his conviction about Britain’s ability to govern other races more fairly and efficiently than they could rule themselves.22 In his book England in Egypt, he wrote patronisingly of the Egyptians: ‘Such a race will not of itself develop great men or new ideas, or take a leading part in the progress of mankind. But under proper guidance, it is capable of enjoying much simple content.’23 These views would be taken with him to South Africa.


    New acquaintances


    During his service in Egypt, Milner encountered for the first time two fellow Englishmen destined to play significant roles in his future career: the ambitious, thrusting Liberal-Unionist MP Joseph Chamberlain and the upwardly mobile military officer Horatio Herbert Kitchener.


    The flamboyant Chamberlain, a fastidious dresser who wore a monocle in one eye and an orchid in his lapel and had a gift for attracting attention to himself, was a wealthy screw manufacturer and former mayor of Birmingham who had gone to work at the age of 16 and made enough money by the age of 34 to retire from business and go into politics.24 Cutting his teeth as a radical, anti-imperialist Liberal, he rose swiftly through the ranks to become President of the Board of Trade in Gladstone’s second ministry (1880–1885), but subsequently fell out with his elderly leader over the proposal to grant Home Rule to Ireland.


    A late convert to the benefits of imperial trade and protective tariffs, which he now believed were essential to provide jobs for Britain’s industrial workforce, Chamberlain was to become the driving force behind a split in Liberal ranks and a breakaway of pro-imperial party members from Gladstone. Had Chamberlain not broken with Gladstone over Ireland, he would almost certainly have become the next Liberal leader, and in time Britain’s prime minister. Distrusted by MPs in both major political parties, at the time of his visit to Egypt ‘Pushful’ or ‘Jingo’ Joe had been languishing unhappily on the parliamentary backbenches for almost a decade.
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    Joseph Chamberlain, Britain’s Colonial Secretary, who sent Milner to South Africa. (Wikimedia Commons/Elliot & Fry)


    In Cairo, Milner was able to have a lengthy conversation with Chamberlain, whose recent trip to the United States and Canada had served to strengthen his imperialist instincts. The MP for Birmingham had been keeping a close eye on developments in Egypt and concluded that it was imperative for Britain to retain control over the region. In Milner, he found a man of similar convictions.


    When a new Tory-Liberal imperialist coalition under Lord Salisbury won the general election of 1895, Chamberlain was offered any post in the cabinet except that of Foreign Secretary. Seizing his opportunity, he shrewdly chose the Colonial Office over the Chancellorship, thereby becoming responsible for administering the affairs of almost one-fifth of the land surface of the world and some 50 million people,25 and making him the standard bearer of the ‘New Imperialism’ in British politics. Looked down upon by the aristocrats around Salisbury because of his middle-class origins, Pushful Joe became famous as Britain’s ‘Minister for Empire’, having ‘an irresistible appeal for the masses of the 1890s – who loved flash’.26 A non-admirer described him as ‘the grandest specimen of the courageous, unscrupulous schemer our politics have ever seen’.27


    The Inspector General of Police during most of Milner’s time in Egypt was Colonel Herbert Kitchener, recently promoted for his courageous service against the Mahdi in the Sudan. A self-contained, rather remote individual of delicate tastes and a trademark moustache that would one day become famous on a First World War recruiting poster, Kitchener aroused jealousy among his fellow officers for his vaulting ambition. He had also incurred the hostility of the expatriate community in Cairo by his ill-concealed contempt for their society.28


    Milner was able to observe at close quarters Kitchener’s efforts to reform Egypt’s interior ministry, which was responsible for the Egyptian police force. ‘Of [Kitchener’s] energy and industry, there can be no doubt’, he recorded in his journal. ‘The question is whether he is on the right lines. He is certainly ruthless in his treatment of other interests … and he is not easy to keep in check. A strong self-willed man, not absolutely straight, he might very easily cause trouble, not only with the natives, but among the English themselves.’29


    Promotion


    Less than a year after arriving in Egypt, Milner was promoted, on Baring’s recommendation, to the post of Under-Secretary of Finance, the second-most senior official in the ministry. He continued to keep in regular touch with Goschen, confiding to his mentor that one of the things that made Egypt work was ‘the extremely good relations existing between all the leading Englishmen here. They all row in the same boat, and are really a wonderfully strong crew. It is a pleasure to have to deal with so many able, straight and thoroughly English-minded men on terms of perfect good fellowship.’30


    To Goschen, Milner expressed his admiration of the ‘immensity of the service which Baring constantly renders to this country. Despite all his great superficial faults – his brusquerie, his conceit, his long-windedness … he is a statesman of a very big order, and above all, a perfectly extraordinary instance of the right man in the right place.’31


    A salary increase enabled Milner to move out of Cairo to Helwan, a spa in the nearby desert overlooking the Nile. He revelled in the clean country air and ‘above all the nights most fresh and beautiful’.32 Two Arabian horses of his own enabled him to keep fit by riding every day. From visitors, and his voluminous correspondence with Goschen and others, he was kept well-informed about political developments ‘at home’.


    After 15 months in Egypt, Milner went back to England on leave and lost no time in renewing old friendships. He spent an entertaining evening at Wimbledon with WT Stead, who talked ‘with his wonted brilliancy’ about all and sundry, but particularly about Cecil John Rhodes and the prospect of maintaining the political unity of the English race.33 Stead, who had fallen for Rhodes’s enthusiasm two years earlier when ‘the Colossus’ – as Rhodes was nicknamed – was in London to rally support for the granting of a royal charter for his British South Africa Company (BSAC), remarked presciently that if Rhodes lived for another ten years, ‘he will make or mar the Empire’.34


    Although Rhodes had been Milner’s contemporary at Oxford the two had never met, and it was Stead who made the introduction. Milner was far more sceptical than Stead of Rhodes’s ‘commercial’ brand of imperialism. According to historian Robert Rotberg, Stead thought Rhodes personally unprepossessing but full of ideas: ‘He believes more in wealth and endowments than I do. He is not religious in the ordinary sense, but has a deeply religious conception of his duty to the world and thinks he can best serve it by working for England.’ With financial backing from Rhodes, Stead went on to found another well-regarded political journal, The Review of Reviews.35


    Margot


    Milner’s sojourn in England also brought him the first serious romance of his life. Over a meal at Balliol, Benjamin Jowett had deliberately seated him next to the vivacious social butterfly Margot Tennant, ten years younger and aptly described as ‘the electric charge’ of every gathering she attended.36 The strength of Margot Tennant’s voltage stunned Milner, who had never met anyone as flamboyant and flirtatious. Although having several other suitors in tow at the time, Margot was fascinated by Milner’s ‘quick mind and lightning wit’. In her journal, she described him as having ‘dark skin, melancholy, [with] highly expressive eyes and a humorous mouth’. Jowett had told her that ‘although Milner did not smoke, hunt or play golf, he was not a prig, but the most enjoyable company in the world.’37


    Milner and Margot ran into one another again at a succession of house parties, and he became so enamoured of her that before going back to Egypt, with marriage in mind, he went all the way to Scotland to call on Margot’s parents at their family castle and invite them to visit Egypt with her at the end of the summer. The night before he left for Cairo, Milner wrote to Margot professing his love and assuring her that she had encountered ‘something genuine’ this time.38


    In late November 1891, the Tennant family arrived in Cairo and embarked on a three-week cruise along the Nile. Milner was too busy to accompany them but kept up a lively correspondence with Margot. After their return to the city, the visitors stayed on for another three months, during which Milner and Margot saw each other frequently. Shortly after Christmas, the two rode out to the Pyramids, where he asked her to marry him.
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